1988

Jude J. Nicholes v. James Lewis Nicholes : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION AND NATURE OF PROCEEDING

This Court has jurisdiction to decide this appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §78-2a-3(2)(g)(1987). This is an appeal from a Decree of Divorce entered by the Third Judicial District Court, Honorable Kenneth Rigtrup, presiding.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

Did the trial court abuse its discretion in setting its awards of alimony and child support? Did the trial court abuse its discretion in awarding James Nicholas, Defendant and Respondent, the right to claim the minor children as dependents for income tax purposes?

DETERMINATIVE STATUTES, REGULATIONS AND CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS

U.S. Const. art. VI, §2; 26 U.S.C. §152(e)(1988); Utah Code Ann. §78-45-7(2)(1984).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Mr. and Mrs. Nicholas were married on June 30, 1964. Mrs. Nicholas was sixteen years old at the time, and received no educational training past high school. Record at 29. She tried

to work in 1985, but was unable to continue because of her medical problems. Record at 81-84. She suffers from a number of ailments that prevent her from being able to work. Record at 4-25. During most of the marriage, Mrs. Nicholes worked primarily as a housewife, raising the three children. James, the oldest, is no longer a minor. The Decree of Divorce awarded Mrs. Nicholes the custody of Jason, born in 1969, and Rebekah Ann, born in 1974.

Mr. Nicholes worked two jobs during most of the marriage. He was laid off from Kennecott for a period in 1985 and 1986, but then was hired back. Record at 182, 184. He has worked there for twenty-three years. Record at 182. He left his job of twenty years at Western States Masonry about the time he moved out of the house in November 1987, though it is unclear from the record whether he quit or was laid off. Record at 35, 36, 132, 178. Between 1982 and 1985 he was working both jobs and earned between \$43,000.00 and \$53,000.00 per year, even though he often took between one and two months off a year to go hunting. Record at 37, 39. The record indicated that there were no savings because of his hunting trip expenses and because he was laid off from one of his jobs. Record at 39, 182.

This appeal is pursuant to a divorce granted to the parties on March 22, 1988, which became final sixty days after entry. Mrs. Nicholes was awarded custody of the two children, Rebekah Ann, age 14, and Jason Manuel, age 18. The court awarded permanent alimony of \$250.00 per month, and child support of \$100.00 per child, until the children reached the age of eighteen or

graduated from high school, whichever came last. There was no provision for an increase in child support or alimony when Jason graduated from high school, although he graduated in June 1988, within one month of the Decree of Divorce becoming final on May 20, 1988. Appellant filed her Notice of Appeal on April 21, 1988.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court abused its discretion in awarding only \$100.00 per month to Mrs. Nicholes for child support and \$250.00 per month for alimony. Specifically, the trial court failed to make findings concerning the historical earnings of Mr. Nicholes, which findings were necessary to adequately consider his ability to earn. Further, the court abused its discretion by setting inadequate child support and alimony, which awards unjustly left Mrs. Nicholes' household and Mr. Nicholes' household with extremely disparate standards of living. In addition, the trial court should have provided for an increase in alimony and child support to take effect upon the termination of support for one of the parties' children. Finally, the trial court's award to Mr. Nicholes of the right to claim the children as dependents for personal income tax purposes conflicted with the Internal Revenue Code and thus violated the Supremacy Clause of the United States Constitution.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN ITS DETERMINATION OF THE ALIMONY AWARD.

The trial court abused its discretion by awarding Mrs. Nicholes an inadequate amount of alimony resulting in a serious inequity between the standard of living of the parties. The underlying purpose of alimony is to "enable the receiving spouse to maintain as nearly as possible the standard of living enjoyed during the marriage and to prevent the spouse from becoming a public charge." Paffel v. Paffel, 732 P.2d 96 (Utah 1986). "[T]he ultimate test of the propriety of an alimony award is whether, given all these factors, the party receiving alimony will be able to support him or herself, as nearly as possible at the standard of living ... enjoyed during marriage". Naranjo v. Naranjo, 751 P.2d 1144, 1147 (Utah Ct. App. 1988). The purpose of an alimony award is to equalize the parties' respective standards of living as much as possible. Olson v. Olson, 704 P.2d 564, 566 (Utah 1985).

The trial court has discretion in setting alimony, but must exercise that discretion within the standards set by the Utah Supreme Court. Jones v. Jones, 700 P.2d 1072 (Utah 1985). The Supreme Court articulated the following three factors a trial court should consider in determining alimony:

- (1) the financial conditions and needs of the wife;
- (2) the ability of the wife to produce a sufficient income for herself; and
- (3) the ability of the husband to provide support.

English v. English, 565 P.2d 409,411-412 (Utah 1977). Failure to analyze the parties' circumstances using these three factors constitutes an abuse of discretion. Paffel, 732 P.2d at 101.

The trial court abused its discretion by failing to analyze the parties' circumstances in the Nicholes case in light of the English factors. The only finding that the trial court made regarding Mrs. Nicholes' financial condition and needs was "[t]hat the plaintiff is unemployed, and has physical problems that prevent her employment." Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law at 2. There were no specific findings by the court regarding Mrs. Nicholes' needs, although evidence was presented that her total monthly expenses (including the needs of the minor children living with her) ranged between \$1,984.78 to \$2,134.78. Exhibit 5 and Record at 66-67. The trial court made a finding that "the defendant is currently employed at Kennecott and earning, approximately, \$1,665.00 gross, per month." Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law at 2. The original Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law submitted by counsel for Mrs. Nicholes included a recitation of Mr. Nicholes' historical earnings in the years 1982 through 1986 which earnings were much greater than his earnings at the time the Decree of Divorce was entered. Original Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law at 2-3. The trial court ordered that the recitation of Mr. Nicholes' earnings in the previous years be deleted from the final Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law. Record at 214. The trial court improperly relied on Mr. Nicholes' income at the time of the Divorce Decree instead of his

historical earnings in determining the husband's ability to provide spousal support. Such reliance is contrary to the standard articulated in the English case.

It is an abuse of discretion when the trial court's award of alimony is so inequitable as to result in a great disparity in the standards of living of the parties following a divorce. Canning v. Canning, 744 P.2d 325 (Utah Ct. App. 1987). The Utah Supreme Court and Utah Court of Appeals have reversed and/or remanded a number of cases when the awards of alimony were so inequitable that they constituted an abuse of discretion. Jones, 700 P.2d 1072; Gardner v. Gardner, 748 P.2d 1076 (Utah 1988); Canning, 744 P.2d 325; Rasband v. Rasband, 752 P.2d 1331 (Utah Ct. App. 1988); Martinez v. Martinez, 754 P.2d 69 (Utah Ct. App. 1988).

Following a marriage of long duration, an alimony award should equalize the parties' respective standards of living to the extent possible. Gardner, 748 P.2d at 1081. Like the Nicholes' case, in Rasband, the marriage was long in duration (thirty years) and Mrs. Rasband was severely limited in her ability to earn and had no income at the time of the divorce. 752 P.2d at 1333. The Utah Court of Appeals found the disparity between the alimony award of \$9,600.00 per year and Mr. Rasband's remaining income of \$36,000.00 so striking as to constitute an abuse of the trial court's discretion. Id. "His standard of living will be much nearer that enjoyed during the marriage than will hers." Id. In Canning, the Utah Court of Appeals remanded the case because the record was inadequately developed concerning

the wife's needs and her ability to earn. 744 P.2d at 327. The husband had an annual income of \$24,000.00, while Mrs. Canning received \$350.00 per month in child support, no alimony, and made \$1,200 the previous year. Id. The appellate court found that "David Canning's standard of living will be much closer to what it was during the marriage than will be appellant's". Id.

The alimony award of \$250.00 per month to Mrs. Nicholes will not even come close to meeting her monthly expenses of \$1,985.00 to \$2,135.00. More importantly, the alimony award of \$250.00 is unconscionable in its overwhelming disparity. This is so even if the court accepts the trial court's finding that Mr. Nicholes is able to earn only \$1,665.00 per month. The alimony award has the effect of impoverishing Mrs. Nicholes, while Mr. Nicholes standard of living will be much nearer to that enjoyed during the marriage. An alimony award resulting in such a great disparity between the standards of living of the parties constitutes an abuse of the trial court's discretion.

A. The trial court's failure to consider Mr. Nicholes' historical earnings constitutes an abuse of discretion.

When determining alimony, the court is required to make specific findings concerning the ability of the obligor to earn. English, 565 P.2d at 412. The trial court found "that the Mr. Nicholes is currently employed at Kennecott and earning, approximately, \$1665.00, gross, per month." Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law at 2.

When the husband has experienced a temporary decrease in earnings, the trial court must take into account his historical

earnings. Westenkow v. Westenkow, 562 P.2d 1256 (Utah 1977).

The record shows that Mr. Nicholes' income during the last five years was \$45,962.99 (1982), \$48,500.00 (1983), \$53,979.68 (1984), \$43,665.79 (1985), and \$22,665.65 (1986). Record at 3-7; Exhibit 1.

When the obligor has experienced a temporary decrease in income, it is reasonable for the court to impute the obligor's income based on his historical earning ability. Westenkow, 562 P.2d at 1257. In Westenkow, the husband had quit his job to start his own company. The court said that "plaintiff has an established ability to earn \$18,000.00 annually.... It would be reasonable for the court to infer that either plaintiff's income from his business would increase or he would seek other employment with an adequate remuneration reflecting his historical earning ability". Id. In English, the Utah Supreme Court overruled the trial court award of alimony because the trial judge considered only the husband's tax return of the previous year rather than his historical earnings in determining ability to pay. English, 565 P.2d at 412.

The trial court must consider the obligor's ability to provide support as shown by his historical earnings rather than that shown by his current income. Olson, 704 P.2d at 566. The trial court failed to recognize that Mr. Nicholes had an established ability to earn \$40,000.00 to \$50,000.00 per year. In determining Mr. Nicholes' ability to earn, the trial court considered only the income tax return of 1986. Mr. Nicholes was temporarily laid off from one of his jobs in 1986 and was hired

back in or around December, 1986. Record at 182, 184. Because he was hired back late in 1986, Mr. Nicholes reestablished his ability to earn \$40,000.00 to \$50,000.00 per year.

Counsel for Mrs. Nicholes incorporated past earnings into the original Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law but the court ordered that that information be stricken. Record at 214, 219. The trial court stated that it was inappropriate to consider past earnings because Mr. Nicholes "doesn't need to work two jobs." Record at 212. It also determined, without any evidence, that Mr. Nicholes had to accept a lower rate of pay when he went back to work at Kennecott. Record at 191. Mr. Nicholes testified regarding his current cash flow. During his testimony, when the issue of work history was brought up, the judge refused to allow testimony of work history into evidence. Record at 167, 172. As a result the judge based his decision on vague findings. For example, the judge found that Mr. Nicholes had only a "meager amount of money," and that "there is just not enough to go around." Record at 177, 189.

It is clear from the record that the trial court refused to hear evidence concerning Mr. Nicholes' historical earnings and his ability to earn in the future. Both Mr. Nicholes' historical earnings and the timing of his departure from Western States Masonry make the trial court's consideration of a single year's tax return inadequate. The trial court lacked the proper evidence to determine whether this decrease in income was temporary. This lack of evidence was because of the trial court's refusal to hear the relevant evidence.

The trial court's improper determination concerning Mr. Nicholes' ability to earn resulted in an inappropriate disparity between the reported needs of Mrs. Nicholes and the actual alimony awarded. Mrs. Nicholes was accustomed to the high standard of living of \$40,000.00 to \$50,000.00 per year. Mrs. Nicholes' alimony award of \$3,000.00 per year is not supported in the trial court's findings. The findings do not account for Mr. Nicholes' established ability to earn \$40,000.00 to \$50,000.00 per year, or his apparent inability to maintain his spouse in a standard of living not unduly disproportionate to that enjoyed during the marriage. One of the goals of alimony is to prevent the spouse from becoming a public charge. Paffel, 732 P.2d at 100. However given the meager amount of alimony awarded and given Mrs. Nicholes' inability to work, it is very likely that she will become a public charge.

II. THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN ITS DETERMINATION OF THE CHILD SUPPORT AWARD

The amount of child support awarded to Mrs. Nicholes was inadequate and constituted a manifest injustice. In determining the amount of child support to be awarded, Utah law directs the court to consider "all relevant factors" including but not limited to:

- (a) the standard of living and situation of the parties;
- (b) the relative wealth and income of the parties;
- (c) the ability of the obligor to earn;
- (d) the ability of the obligee to earn;

- (e) the need of the obligee;
- (f) the age of the parties;
- (g) the responsibility of the obligor for the support of others.

Utah Code Ann. §78-45-7(2)(1984).

The underlying objective of child support is to reach an equitable apportionment to each parent of a "reasonable and proper share of the child's expenses." Astorga v. Julio, 564 P.2d 1385, 1386 (Utah 1977). One of the chief functions of child support is to protect the children against the adverse circumstances of their parent's divorce and to maintain a standard of living for them "not unduly disproportionate to that which they would have enjoyed had the marriage continued." Savage v. Savage, 658 P.2d 1201, 1205 (Utah 1983).

The trial court failed to properly evaluate the relevant factors in determining the amount of child support. The trial court's failure to consider all of the relevant factors in setting child support is an abuse of discretion. Stevens v. Stevens, 754 P.2d 952, 958 (Utah Ct. App. 1988). The trial judge made findings "that Mrs. Nicholes is unemployed, and has physical problems that prevent her employment". Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law at 2. The record indicates that Mrs. Nicholes is 40 years old. Record at 28-29. Mr. Nicholes' age is not determinable from the record. Given Mrs. Nicholes' age, experience and disabilities, she clearly does not have the ability to support herself or the children. Further the trial court's findings concerning Mr. Nicholes' ability to earn are inadequate because they only addressed what he actually earned in the last year.

The trial court also failed to properly evaluate the children's actual needs and the standard of living to which the children became accustomed to during the marriage. Evidence was presented at trial that the needs of Mrs. Nicholes and the children amounted to \$1,985.00 to \$2,135.00 per month. Exhibit 5. The trial court awarded Mrs. Nicholes \$100.00 per month per child in child support. Including the alimony award, the trial court awarded \$450.00 per month for the support of Mrs. Nicholes and two children. Given the trial court's finding of Mr. Nicholes' current monthly income of \$1665.00, that left \$1225.00 per month for Mr. Nicholes. The great disparity between \$450.00 support a household of three and \$1,225.00 to support a household of one is striking. In light of the fact that Mr. Nicholes has shown an established ability to earn \$40,000.00 to \$50,000.00 per year, the alimony and child support awards are outrageously inadequate. Clearly, Mrs. Nicholes and the children were destined to suffer a disproportionately lower standard of living from that enjoyed by Mr. Nicholes. The child support and alimony awards effectively impoverished Mrs. Nicholes and the children, while preserving a much higher standard of living for Mr. Nicholes.

- A. The trial court should have provided for an increase in child support and alimony due to immediate termination of support for one of the parties' children.**

The trial court refused to provide for an increase in child support and/or alimony for Mrs. Nicholes even though support for the child Jason was terminating within a month of the Decree of Divorce becoming final. The Decree of Divorce provided for child

support in the amount of \$100.00 per month per child "until each minor child attains the age of 18 years or graduates from high school in due course, whichever last occurs." Decree of Divorce at 2. The Verified Complaint for Divorce pled for \$300.00 per month per child in child support, to be increased to \$450.00 per month for the support of the minor child, Rebekah, after the child support for Jason terminated. Verified Complaint for Divorce at 3. The Verified Complaint further requested alimony in the amount of \$400.00 per month to be increased to \$550.00 per month when child support terminated for Jason.

The trial court denied Mrs. Nicholes' request for this increase in alimony and child support, even though the change was almost immediate. Jason had already reached the age of 18 at the time that the Decree of Divorce was entered and had graduated from high school within one month of the Decree becoming final. Mrs. Nicholes has been further impoverished by the trial court's failure to account for this change that took place immediately. Mrs. Nicholes and the remaining minor child are living on \$4,200.00 in child support and alimony per year. According to the trial court's finding of his income, Mr. Nicholes has \$15,780.00 per year to support only himself. In light of Mr. Nicholes' historical earnings, Mrs. Nicholes and Rebekah have experienced a change in their standard of living from \$40,000.00 or \$50,000.00 per year to \$4,200.00 per year in the course of this marital dissolution.

The trial court erred in failing to account for an immediate change in circumstances. Parties should not have to return to

court on a petition for modification for a change in circumstances that is before the court at the time of trial and is certain to take place immediately after the order is entered.

Failing to take the immediate change in circumstances into account in the awards made the future standards of living of the parties unconscionably inequitable. This case therefore, involves even more striking inequities than those of cases this court has previously overturned. It is unclear from the record how the trial judge arrived at his determination. Even if this court declines to ascertain the proper amounts to be awarded, it should make it clear on remand that the trial court should increase the amount of child support for Rebekah and alimony for Mrs. Nicholes based on the child support for Jason terminating almost immediately after the divorce decree became final.

III. THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN AWARDING MR. NICHOLAS THE RIGHT TO CLAIM THE MINOR CHILDREN AS DEPENDENTS FOR TAX PURPOSES.

The trial court erred in awarding Mr. Nicholes the right to claim the minor children as dependents on his income tax return. The trial court failed to comply with the Internal Revenue Code because federal law has given the custodial parent the right to declare the minor children as dependents for income tax purposes since 1985. 26 U.S.C. 152(e) (1988). The 1984 revision of the Internal Revenue Code provides that, for federal income tax purposes, a child of divorced parents shall be considered as having received over half his support from the parent having custody for the greater portion of the calendar year, unless the

non-custodial parent can prove that his or her circumstances meet one of the exceptions to the general rule.

The exceptions to the Internal Revenue Code section giving the custodial parent the tax exemption for the children are if there was a "qualified pre-1985 instrument or if the custodial parent voluntarily signs an agreement to give the exemptions to the non-custodial parent. 26 U.S.C. §152(e) (1988). The Utah Court of Appeals embraced the custodial parent rule from the Internal Revenue Code in Martinez v. Martinez, 754 P.2d at 69, 72 (Utah Ct. App. 1988). In that case the issue rested on whether a stipulation signed in 1983 and revoked in 1985 was a "qualified pre-1985 instrument". The court ruled that the custodial parent is entitled to the tax exemptions absent the ability of the non-custodial parent to establish one of the exceptions to the rule. Id.

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