1988

# Jude J. Nicholes v. James Lewis Nicholes : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

The Appellant further cites this Court to Westenskow v. Westenshow, 562 P.2d 1256 (Utah 1977) with the position that "When the obligor has experienced a temporary decrease in income it is reasonable for the Court to impute the obligor's income based on his historical earning ability". Again, great deference should be paid to the term "temporary" decrease in income. In Westenshow the Plaintiff/husband was ordered to pay to the Defendant/wife, alimony in the sum of \$75.00 for a period of six months, with an increase to \$100.00 per month for a period of six months. Then a final sum of \$150.00 per month for a period of four years. The alimony would then terminate. In Westenskow the Plaintiff/husband was a college graduate that had been employed by a large corporation as a marketing representative, earning an annual salary of \$18,000.00. In August, 1975, he terminated his employment and organized his own company. The trial was held November 3, 1987, and Plaintiff's record of his compensation for his company was for the month of October only; the sum was \$600.00. Plaintiff testified he expected his income to improve.

The Court found at page 57:

...here Plaintiff has an established ability to earn \$18,000.00 annually. He presented a record of one month indicating a diminished income. It would be reasonable for the court to infer that either Plaintiff's income from his

business would increase or he would seek other employment with an adequate remuneration reflecting his historical earning ability. Under such circumstances the automatic increments in alimony and child support were not inequitable... Like Olson, the Plaintiff/husband has encountered a "temporary" decrease in his income fully expecting based on his own testimony, although not established by a potential contract of \$3,500.00 a month as in Olson, but by Mr. Westenskow's own testimony that his income would improve and Mr. Westenskow had the potential and capacity to again earn \$18,000.00 a year.

In Westenskow the diminished earnings were represented only a one month time period, whereas in this case the 1986 tax return showed a one year diminished income of approximately \$22,000.00 due to the fact that the Defendant/husband was working a full-time job. Again in the Nicholes case, unlike the Westenskow case, the Trial Court did specifically provide through the Decree that on an annual basis the Defendant would provide to the Plaintiff a statement of his income with the understanding that an increase in his monthly income would entitle the Plaintiff to move for additional alimony under the continuing jurisdiction of the Trial Court.

Numerous references have been made to rulings and statements made by the Trial Court in regards to Mr. Nicholes current income and why the Court considered current

income rather than the historical earnings. Appellant has indicated that the trial Judge refused to hear evidence concerning Mr. Nicholes' historical earnings and his ability to earn it in the future, when quite to the contrary the trial record at page 167 has an interjection to the Respondent's counsel questioning Mr. Nicholes as to his work history. The trial Judge indicated as follows:

The Court: I don't see the need for it, really.

Mr. Walpole: Okay.

The Court: I think I've heard enough about income, work.

The previous comments by the court as presented in argument in Point I. of this brief show more than sufficient evidence of the trial Judge's knowledge of the Respondent's income and work history and historical earnings such that the trial Judge specifically ruled on the present income of the Respondent as being \$1,665.00 and due to the present work conditions and circumstances found that to be the Respondent's current income.

The Appellant fails to make any reference to the deposition of Dennis H. Gordon, M.D., as reviewed by the trial Judge and as properly published in regards to the Defendant's employability (see trial record at pages 167, 190 and trial record page 197). At the deposition of Dennis H. Gordon, M.D. taken October 2, 1987, Dr. Gordon stated

that he first began seeing the Defendant for medical reasons on May 10, 1985, and that prior to that he had been treated by other physicians for recurrent dislocations of his shoulder and had had quite a long history of increasing deformity of the knee. (See deposition page 5). Dr. Gordon in the following pages further described the dislocation of the Defendant's right shoulder and unrelated right knee problems, with subsequent visits by Mr. Nicholes to Dr. Gordon on May 10th, May 31st, June 14th, July 19th, August 12th, September 13th and November of 1985, and then again in January of 1986, May of 1987 and September of 1987 (see deposition at page 10). Beginning on page 13 of the deposition, Dr. Gordon states that:

Any high impact on that knee simply increases the deterioration of it and he's got a fair amount of wear. He's got calcification in both menisci. He's got extensive changes in the knee, so if he stays away from high impacts to it, it will last longer.

In response to a question on what high impact would consist of, Dr Gordon responded "running, jumping, certainly any sports are going to cause impact to be eliminated. Anytime you are carrying heavy weights you're going to increase the stresses onto it, climbing, bending, squats, deep-knee bends, duck-walks, anything like that are very detrimental to a knee like that. So you need to stay away

from that. In answer to a question about any specific recommendations concerning Mr. Nicholes working one or two jobs, Dr. Gordon responded "it depends on what the jobs are. It is an impact type problem primarily that we are dealing with and two jobs of a heavy construction type position are quite unreasonable on the joint. He's going to have paid, and he's going to have more rapid breakdown if he keeps stressing it that way." Dr. Gordon further stated that his recommendation would be to stay away from labor, taking a desk job, but that he did not think that Mr. Nicholes had the training, but that his recommendation would be a non-manual or non-stressful type job. (See deposition pages 15, 16 and 17).

On his cross-examination concerning the working of two jobs, Dr. Gordon testified:

...my recollection is that from our previous evaluations on him, that he had been working two jobs, and I had been -- this issue came up, and I informed him that I did not feel that was really reasonable to be working two labor type situations.

When you are talking about two jobs, I guess it is -- are we talking about two part-time jobs? Two eight-hour jobs? I don't think that that's the significant thing. I think that the significant thing is the amount of impact that he's putting on the extremity, and that's really what I was stressing.... I know that we have discussed the fact and my recollection was that he had done a fair amount of



carrying, and I think that the part-time job required carrying, and for some reason I'm thinking of carrying hod or carrying construction-type equipment or something; fair amount of climbing and carrying of heavy objects.

I don't remember what the job at Kennecott involved. (See deposition pages 19 and 20).

On further cross-examination in regards to Mr. Nicholes' knee, Dr. Gordon stated:

Squatting, deep-knee bends, duck-walks are all going to be detrimental. Climbing is going to be detrimental, and this brings in stairs. That doesn't mean that you can't do them, but you ought not to do extensive amounts of them. If you want this knee to last as long as you can then you protect it, and you unweight it as much as you can....

I would try and preserve that knee as long as you could until you reach a point where pain limits you sufficiently enough to undergo the surgical intervention, which would be a replacement type arthroplasty (see deposition pages 23 and 24).

Lastly, on pages 27 through 28 in response to Plaintiff's counsel's cross-examination on retraining, Dr. Gordon stated:

I think it would be very wise if he could be retrained, yes. And then we run into a real problem with this on so many people.

Drywallers that come into us at age 35 with back problems, or 40 years old, and they have made high salaries or substantial salaries, and all of a

sudden they find themselves going back to a job that's going to be much less paying, and they don't want to do it, and I can understand, but the further they go the more difficult it becomes for them.

I don't think there is any question that somebody with this knee and right shoulder would be better off in a non-labor type situation.

Based on the foregoing case law and facts from the Nicholes case as applied to that case law, the Trial Court did properly consider the three factors spelled out in English, and also took into consideration the Defendant's historical earnings and applying the facts particular to the Nicholes case and within the Trial Court's discretion did properly award to the Plaintiff alimony of \$250.00 per month for an indefinite time period with an annual review of the Defendant's income for future potential modification if appropriate such that the Trial Court's Order should be affirmed.

### POINT III.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN ITS DETERMINATION OF THE CHILD SUPPORT AWARD.

Under Utah statutory law as spelled out in the Utah Code Annotated §78-45-7 you are entitled to a determination of amount of support states:

(2)...in determining the amount of perspective support, the court shall consider all relevant factors, including but not limited to: (a) the standard of living and the situation of the parties; (b) the relative wealth and income of the parties; (c) the ability of the obligor to earn; (d) the ability of the obligee to earn; (e) the need of the obligee; (f) the age of the parties; (g) the responsibility of the obligor for the support of others.

The Appellant makes reference to Astorga v. Julio, 564 P.2d 1385 (Utah 1977) to indicate that the underlying objective of child support is to reach an equitable proportion to each parent of a "reasonable and proper share of the child's expenses." Our review of that case shows that it is a proceeding under the Bastardy Act, which is civil in nature and whose purpose is to compel the father of a child to support it during its tender years. This proceeding is not a proceeding under the Bastardy Act, but is a divorce action in equity and therefore the case of Astorga v. Julio has no application.

In Savage v. Savage, 658 P.2d 1201 (Utah 1983) the Supreme Court held that "where a marriage is of long duration and the earning capacity of one spouse greatly outcedes that of the other... it is appropriate to order alimony and child support at a level which will insure that the supported spouse and children may maintain a standard of living not unduly disproportionate to that which they would have

enjoyed had the marriage continued. In Savage the Trial Court found the Defendant had a gross income annually in excess of \$133,000.00 and a net monthly income of \$7,362.00. The Defendant's evidence at trial showed his monthly expenses to be \$3,140.00 with the Court ultimately awarding to the Plaintiff \$2,000.00 in alimony and \$1,500.00 per month in child support or \$500.00 per month per child with the combined figures still leaving the Defendant with approximately \$800.00 in excess. The Plaintiff's evidence showed her monthly expenses were \$4,100.00. In the immediate case at hand, the Plaintiff's testimony was a need of between \$1,900.00 to \$2,200.00 per month (see trial record at page 71), while the Defendant's exhibit showed expenses of \$1,554.00 per month (see trial record at page 76), calculating expenses of both parties an income would be needed of \$3,700.00 or more per month to meet the needs testified to by both parties with an income of only \$1,665.00 per month. The Nicholes case can be distinguished from the Savage case in that in Savage there was plenty of income to meet the needs and expenses of the parties whereas in this case, neither of the parties if the monies are to be disbursed between them will be able to meet their financial obligations or to maintain the standard of living and situation of the parties. The money is simply not available to pay both

parties' expenses and although it might be appropriate to order alimony and child support at a level which will ensure that the supported spouse and children maintain a standard of living not unduly proportionate to that which they have enjoyed had the marriage continued, the monies were not and are not available for disbursement to meet the needs of both parties.

The Trial Court in determining the amount of child support must consider all relevant factors including those statutorily enumerated above or it will constitute an abuse of discretion. Jefferies v. Jefferies, 752 P.2d 909 (Utah App. 1988). The Appellant cites Stevens v. Stevens, 754 P.2d 952 (Utah App. 1988) wherein the Trial Court in considering child support made only two limited conclusionary findings regarding child support; (1) that a reasonable sum for the Plaintiff to pay to the Defendant for the support and maintenance of each child the sum of \$175.00 per child per month, (2) that although the income tax returns supplied by the Plaintiff on their face might not justify the award of support and alimony hereinabove provided, the Court has determined from the evidence submitted at the trial, that a substantial amount of tax-free income is generated by the Plaintiff's activities, and he can afford to pay the sums for support and alimony as hereinabove provided. In this

case the trial Judge made findings "that Mrs. Nicholes is unemployed and has physical problems that prevent her employment." (See Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law at page 2) The record further indicates that Mrs. Nicholes is 40 years old (see trial record at pages 28 through 29). Mr. Nicholes age of 41 can be determined from the deposition of Dr. Gordon (see deposition at page \_\_\_\_). The Findings of Fact further indicate that Mr. Nicholes due to his present work circumstances and physical abilities is earning \$1,665.00 per month as the sole provider for the family and the testimony given shows that Mr. Nicholes is the father of the child or obligor and therefore has the responsibility for the support of the obligee. No testimony was offered as to the minor child, Rebecca, or the obligee working. The Plaintiff presented a Financial Declaration testimony on exhibits as to her expenses as acknowledged on the record of between \$1,900.00 to \$2,200.00 per month such that each of the seven statutory factors required to be reviewed by the Trial Court were reviewed and considered and an award made of \$100.00 per month per child and there was no abuse of discretion.

Although the Verified Complaint of the Plaintiff for divorce did plead for \$300.00 per month per child in child support to be increased to \$450.00 per month for the support

of the minor child, Rebecca, after the child support for Jason was terminated. At the time of trial, the Plaintiff responding to her counsel indicated that she felt necessary child support in order for her to care for their needs would be "probably around \$300.00 a child a month." (See trial record at page 66). Subsequent thereto, Plaintiff's Exhibit 5 detailing the income and expenses was submitted and in response to the question from Plaintiff's counsel "and would it be your testimony that that would be your monthly expenses and necessary to take care of yourself and your two children?", the Plaintiff answered "yes, it could be higher. That was last February" (see trial record at pages 66 to 67). No further requests were made by the Plaintiff of the Court and in particular the Plaintiff did not ask of the Court that child support be increased to a different amount once the minor child, Jason, became emancipated so that this issue is brought for the first time on appeal and should not be considered and the Trial Court is not under an obligation to sua sponte or on its own motion or grant a prospective child support award under the auspices that there will be a potential change in circumstances, otherwise every Trial Court considering any award of child support would be required to propose changes in child support on a prospective basis unknowing that eventually that passage of time each of the minor children will become emancipated.

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